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Bauman made some interesting comments on a

painting in the Robert Lehman Collection en-
titled Virgin and Child, with St. Anne Presenting a
Woman (Figure 1).! In this essay I propose to present
additional information about the work, more specif-
ically about its inscription, original provenance, and
function.

This panel is generally attributed to an anony-
mous Bruges painter known as the Master of the St.
Ursula Legend. It represents a woman, turned to
the viewer’s left, who kneels in adoration of some-
thing outside the picture. Her prayer book lies next
to her on a hedge. Behind the adoring figure her
patron saint, St. Anne, introduces her with a gentle
gesture of the right hand. St. Anne stands in front
of an honorary brocade with woven pineapple mo-
tifs and with her left arm shelters her daughter,
Mary. As Guy Bauman observed, the Virgin, who
holds the Christ Child, appears more as a conven-
tional attribute of St. Anne, who enfolds her, than
as a full-fledged personage in the scene.? Not only
her diminutive scale but especially the odd repre-
sentation of the Christ Child blessing the donor,
who turns her back to Him, proves this point.

In the background of the picture, there is a hilly
landscape with two castles at the right. On the left
in the background one sees a cityscape, easily iden-
tifiable as Bruges. It shows the Minnewater with two
round towers; the tower on the left, the Poederto-
ren, still exists. The city is dominated by three tow-
ers, which are, from left to right: the belfry, the
church of Our Lady, and a third tower, probably
that of St. Savior, which is not truthfully repre-
sented. St. Savior’s spire was not that pointed in the
fifteenth century.? In order to see this specific con-
figuration of the three Bruges towers, one has to
look at the city from the north-northeast, some-

I N HIS Early Flemish Portraits 1425-1525 Guy

©The Metropolitan Museum of Art 1992
METROPOLITAN MUSEUM JOURNAL 27

The notes for this article begin on page 41.

where between the Ghent Gate and the Catherina
Gate. Seen from the side of the Minnewater, as in
the painting—which is more toward the east—the
tower of the belfry should be placed in the middle.
The sitter has been identified as Anna de Blasere,
the wife of Jan van Nieuwenhove. The identification
is made possible by her and her husband’s coats of
arms on the frame* and by the inscription (Figures
2—4) at the bottom of the picture, which may be
translated as: “The companion and wife of Jan and
[sic] Michiel van Nieuwenhove, born Anna, daugh-
ter of Johannes de Blasere, died in 1480, minus iota,
the 5th of October; may she rest in peace. Amen.”
The numerals in this inscription—.m.c. quater .x.
octo. and qui[n]ta—are written in red; the words are
in white. The year is not 1488, as thought earlier.®
M.c. quater .x. octo. should be read as “thousand,
hundred times four, ten times eight,” that is, 1480.7
The hitherto unexplained addition sed excipe iotam,
inserted between the year and the day, is certainly
the most puzzling element. Literally it means “but
subtract iota,” in which the Greek letter iota stands
for one.® In other words, the date in the inscription
should be understood as 1480 minus 1: 1479. This
date, October 5, 1479, is precisely eleven days after
Anna gave birth to her daughter, Catherina.® Like
many women during the late Middle Ages, Anna
must have died from complications in childbirth.
It has been suggested that the inscription was
written before Anna’s death and that some space
was left open for the date, which would have been
filled out in red after she died.!' This hypothesis
appears incorrect, because in that case the word oc-
tobris would have also been written in red. On the
contrary, one may deduce from this that either the
painting was made after October 5, 1479, or that the
inscription was added to the painting after that
date.
The unusual format of the date and the use of
two colors in the inscription may indicate that it
hides a chronogram, similar to the famous quatrain
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Figure 1. Master of the St. Ursula Legend, Virgin and Child, with St. Anne Presenting a Woman. Tempera and oil on wood,
49.9 X 34.3 cm. The Metropolitan Museum of Art, Robert Lehman Collection, 1975, 1975.1.114




on the Ghent Altarpiece.!? Indeed, if one adds up
the values of the significant letters in quater x octo
... quinta, the result is twenty-one. To judge from
the apparent age of the woman in the picture, Anna
may have been that age when she died. However, no
archival documents have yet surfaced that corrobo-
rate this.

The 1479 date in the inscription is a terminus
post quem for the picture. On the other hand, the
Bruges belfry in the background is represented the
way it looked before it was rebuilt in 1483.!* This
means that the painting originated between 1479
and 1483. It was probably commissioned from the
Master of the St. Ursula Legend by Jan van Nieu-
wenhove in commemoration of his beloved wife,
shortly after her premature death.

The inscription may have been retraced at some
later date, which would explain the mistake Johannis
et michaelis instead of Johannis f[iliu]s michaelis. But
there is no reason to doubt its authenticity. It in-
cludes typical Middle Netherlandish phrasing lit-
erally translated into Latin, as one often finds in
documents of that period. Coniunx domicella is the
literal translation of the Middle Netherlandish ghe-
selnede ende huuswyf (companion and wife).!*

The reference to the date of Anna’s death and the
words pace quiescat suggest that the picture was orig-
inally an epitaph and may have been part of a fu-
nerary monument.!* Anna van Nieuwenhove was
buried in the church of Our Lady in Bruges. The
fourth chapel from the west in the south aisle of this
church belonged to the van Nieuwenhove family.!¢
At the entrance, a family sepulcher of bluish lime-
stone from Tournai with brass inlay was set into the
floor.'” In this monument, now lost, six members of
the family were buried: Michiel van Nieuwenhove;'®
Catherina van Belle, Michiel’s wife;!° Jan van Nieu-
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Figure 2. Detail of Figure 1 showing inscription
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wenhove, son of Michiel;2° his wife, Anna de Blas-
ere;?! Martinus van Nieuwenhove, Jan’s brother;?
and Margaretha Haultains, wife of Martinus.?*

A memorial stone with the van Nieuwenhove coat
of arms was set into the south wall of the chapel it-
self.?* The inscription on it had faded by the late
seventeenth century, when epitaph inscriptions
were first systematically recorded in Bruges. Today,
the stone has completely disappeared. The inscrip-
tion doubtless alluded to the foundation of this
chapel and, as usual, to the Masses that the van
Nieuwenhoves had endowed there.?

Perhaps the painting in the Lehman Collection
hung to the right of this foundation stone on the
south wall of the chapel of the van Nieuwenhove
family in the church of Our Lady. There are no
traces of hinges on the picture’s frame, which indi-
cates that it was not the right shutter of a diptych or
a triptych, as one would expect, judging from
Anna’s position turned toward the viewer’s left and
looking at something outside the picture frame.?
The foundation stone may very well have had an
engraved figurative decoration, such as a Crucifix-
ion, for instance, under which the actual text was
inscribed. This way, the painting would have
matched compositionally the memorial stone, and
Anna’s gaze out of the picture would be more com-
prehensible.

If this is so, the installation much resembled that
of the lost epitaph of Wouter Metteneye in the same
church. The sepulcher of the Metteneye family was
situated at the southeastern side of the ambula-
tory.2” Above this funerary monument a stone with
an epitaph inscription and the family’s coat of arms
was set into the wall. On either side of it hung a
painting: the one on the left represented Wouter
Metteneye, the one on the right his wife, Margriete
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Canneel. Both figures were accompanied by their
children, no doubt the man with his sons and the
woman with her daughters. These paintings were
probably installed shortly after July 1, 1448, when
Wouter Metteneye died.

Thus far, only G. Marlier has doubted the attri-
bution of the painting to the Master of the St. Ur-
sula Legend.?® I believe there is no reason for such
doubts. The naiveté of the doll-like figures in this
composition, especially of the portrait of Anna de
Blasere, is very typical of this master’s manner.?° She
could be a sister of the Antwerp Lady with a Carna-
tion, who wears the same headgear and veil.* The
chalky color of the flesh, the black eyes without
highlights, the large, closed mouth, and above all
the blank facial expression are unmistakably the
work of the same hand.
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Figure 3. Detail of Figure 1 showing
coat of arms on frame at left

The Virgin in the Lehman picture—her long hair
cascading over her shoulders and accentuated by
golden highlights—resembles the figure of St. Ur-
sula in the Bruges panels of the Legend of St. Ursula,
from which this master takes his name.?! The upper
half of the figure of St. Anne may be based on the
same preparatory sketch that was used in reverse
for this saint in the Brussels Virgin and Child with St.
Anne and Saints.>?

The rocks and shrubbery in front of the cityscape
and the view of Bruges itself in the background of
the epitaph are almost identical to the disposition of
the background in the Portrait of Ludovico Portinari in
Philadelphia, except that on the latter painting the
St. Savior tower is missing.%

The epitaph of Anna van Nieuwenhove fits stylis-
tically very well in the corpus of paintings attributed



Figure 4. Detail of Figure 1 showing coat of arms on frame
at right

to the Master of the St. Ursula Legend. Indeed,
since the painting can be dated with relative preci-
sion between 1479 and 1483, it is a firm reference
in the chronology of this Bruges master’s oeuvre.
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